How climate, topography, soils, herbivores, and fire control forest–grassland coexistence in the Eurasian forest-steppe

László Erdős^{1,2†,*}, Péter Török^{2,3,4†}, Joseph W. Veldman⁵, Zoltán Bátori⁶, Ákos Bede-Fazekas^{1,7}, Martin Magnes⁸, György Kröel-Dulay¹ and Csaba Tölgyesi⁹

¹Institute of Ecology and Botany, Centre for Ecological Research, Alkotmány utca 2-4, 2163, Vácrátót, Hungary

²MTA-DE Lendület Functional and Restoration Ecology Research Group, Egyetem tér 1, 4032, Debrecen, Hungary

³Department of Ecology, University of Debrecen, Egyetem tér 1, 4032, Debrecen, Hungary

⁴Botanical Garden – Center for Biological Diversity Conservation in Powsin, Polish Academy of Sciences, Prawdziwka street 2, 02-973, Warszawa, Poland

⁵Department of Ecology and Conservation Biology, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, 77843-2258, USA

⁶Department of Ecology, University of Szeged, Közép fasor 52, 6726, Szeged, Hungary

⁷Department of Environmental and Landscape Geography, Eötvös Loránd University, Pázmány Péter sétány 1/C, 1117, Budapest, Hungary

⁸Institute of Biology, University of Graz, Holteigasse 6, 8010, Graz, Austria

⁹MTA-SZTE 'Momentum' Applied Ecology Research Group, Közép fasor 52, 6726, Szeged, Hungary

ABSTRACT

Recent advances in ecology and biogeography demonstrate the importance of fire and large herbivores – and challenge the primacy of climate - to our understanding of the distribution, stability, and antiquity of forests and grasslands. Among grassland ecologists, particularly those working in savannas of the seasonally dry tropics, an emerging fire-herbivore paradigm is generally accepted to explain grass dominance in climates and on soils that would otherwise permit development of closed-canopy forests. By contrast, adherents of the climate-soil paradigm, particularly foresters working in the humid tropics or temperate latitudes, tend to view fire and herbivores as disturbances, often human-caused, which damage forests and reset succession. Towards integration of these two paradigms, we developed a series of conceptual models to explain the existence of an extensive temperate forest-grassland mosaic that occurs within a 4.7 million km² belt spanning from central Europe through eastern Asia. The Eurasian forest-steppe is reminiscent of many regions globally where forests and grasslands occur side-by-side with stark boundaries. Our conceptual models illustrate that if mean climate was the only factor, forests should dominate in humid continental regions and grasslands should prevail in semi-arid regions, but that extensive mosaics would not occur. By contrast, conceptual models that also integrate climate variability, soils, topography, herbivores, and fire depict how these factors collectively expand suitable conditions for forests and grasslands, such that grasslands may occur in more humid regions and forests in more arid regions than predicted by mean climate alone. Furthermore, boundaries between forests and grasslands are reinforced by vegetation-fire, vegetationherbivore, and vegetation-microclimate feedbacks, which limit tree establishment in grasslands and promote tree survival in forests. Such feedbacks suggest that forests and grasslands of the Eurasian forest-steppe are governed by ecological dynamics that are similar to those hypothesised to maintain boundaries between tropical forests and savannas. Unfortunately, the grasslands of the Eurasian forest-steppe are sometimes misinterpreted as deforested or otherwise degraded vegetation. In fact, the grasslands of this region provide valuable ecosystem services, support a high diversity of plants and animals, and offer critical habitat for endangered large herbivores. We suggest that a better understanding of the fundamental ecological controls that permit forest-grassland coexistence could help us prioritise conservation and restoration of the Eurasian forest-steppe for biodiversity, climate adaptation, and pastoral livelihoods. Currently, these

^{*} Author for correspondence (Tel.: +36304995142; E-mail: erdos.laszlo@ecolres.hu).

[†]Joint first authors; these authors contributed equally to this work.

Biological Reviews 97 (2022) 2195–2208 © 2022 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

goals are being undermined by tree-planting campaigns that view the open grasslands as opportunities for afforestation. Improved understanding of the interactive roles of climate variability, soils, topography, fire, and herbivores will help scientists and policymakers recognise the antiquity of the grasslands of the Eurasian forest-steppe.

Key words: biome transition, old-growth grassland, spatiotemporal heterogeneity, tree-grass coexistence, topography, soil, herbivory, fire.

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	2196
II. Ecology, biogeography, and conservation of the eurasian forest-steppe	2197
III. Models of forest-grassland coexistence	2199
(1) Climate	2199
(2) Topography	2199
(3) Soil	2201
(4) Herbivory	2201
(5) Fire	2202
(6) Vegetation feedbacks and alternative ecosystem states	2202
IV. Implications and future challenges	2204
V. Conclusions	2205
VI. Acknowledgements	2205
VII. References	2205

I. INTRODUCTION

Grasslands (including savannas) cover approximately 40% of the terrestrial biosphere (White, Murray & Rohweder, 2000), support high biodiversity (Myers et al., 2000; Murphy, Andersen & Parr, 2016), provide habitat for native animals and domestic livestock, and supply a variety of other ecosystem services, including belowground carbon storage (Alkemade et al., 2013; Dass et al., 2018; Erdős et al., 2018a). Despite their importance, grasslands are often overlooked in conservation planning, undervalued because they lack dense tree cover, and misinterpreted as degraded vegetation in need of reforestation (Parr et al., 2014; Tölgyesi et al., 2022). This confusion over the conservation value of grasslands is acute in places where the climate can support the development of forests (Veldman, 2016). Indeed, much of the research on the determinants of grassland distributions is framed to answer the question of why they exist at all, particularly in places where successional theory suggests there ought to be forests (Sarmiento, 1984; Bond, 2008).

To answer why grasslands exist in climates that can support forests, there are two prevailing views among ecologists. The first view, the climate–soil paradigm, has long considered climate to be the principal control over biome distributions (e.g. Holdridge, 1967), while recognising that certain soils can limit tree growth, thus permitting grasslands to exist (e.g. Beard, 1953). In the climate–soil paradigm, grasslands that are not on special soils, and depend upon fire and large herbivores for their maintenance, are typically considered to be degraded ecosystems, deforested by humans, and in a stage of arrested succession (Veldman *et al.*, 2015). The second view, the emerging fire–herbivore paradigm (e.g. Pausas & Bond, 2019), views climate and soils as insufficient to explain the distribution of biomes, and emphasises the relationships among vegetation, fire, and herbivores (Murphy & Bowman, 2012). At first glance, the growing popularity of the fire-herbivore paradigm can appear to be supplanting the idea that climate and soils matter at all (e.g. Veenendaal et al., 2018). But rather than viewing these two paradigms as mutually exclusive, we suggest that recent work to understand the role of fire and herbivores in shaping grassland and forest distributions does not replace, but adds nuance, specificity, and mechanistic detail, where the climate-soil paradigm falls short. Indeed, proponents of the fire-herbivore paradigm study these forces in addition to and in relation to soils (e.g. Hoffmann et al., 2012; Staver, Botha & Hedin, 2017) and climate (Higgins Bond & Trollope, 2000; Staver, Archibald & Levin, 2011; Lehmann et al., 2011, 2014; Hempson, Archibald & Bond, 2015).

While progress on the ecological importance of fire and herbivores has advanced for tropical and subtropical savanna ecosystems (Scholes & Archer, 1997; Sankaran, Ratnam & Hanan, 2004; Bond, 2008; Baudena, D'Andrea & Provenzale, 2010; Hoffmann et al., 2012; Ratajczak, D'Odorico & Yu, 2017), temperate grasslands of Eurasia continue to be viewed largely through the lens of the climate-soil paradigm. To understand better the ecological controls over grasslands and forests and to improve their respective conservation and restoration in the face of climate and land-use change, we reviewed the literature on the Eurasian forest-steppe. We developed a series of conceptual models of forest-grassland coexistence to depict purported drivers visually in a hierarchical manner, beginning with macroclimate (henceforth 'climate'). Because mean climate alone is clearly inadequate for explaining the existence of the forest-steppe, we draw on our literature

review to add climate variability, topography, soils, herbivory, fire and feedback mechanisms to successive models in the hierarchy. Collectively these models illustrate how it is possible for the Eurasian forest-steppe to occupy such broad geographic and climatic ranges. We hope that our conceptual models will help ecologists, environmental policymakers, and land managers recognise the multiple drivers of forest–grassland coexistence across Eurasia, and help explain why herbivores and fire need to be considered, in addition to climate and soils.

II. ECOLOGY, BIOGEOGRAPHY, AND CONSERVATION OF THE EURASIAN FOREST-STEPPE

Positioned between temperate forests to the north, and mostly treeless continental steppes to the south, the Eurasian foreststeppe occupies a 9000 km long and, on average, 430 km wide belt from central Europe to far eastern Asia (Fig. 1A) (Erdős et al., 2018a). Forest-steppes are the natural vegetation in large parts of Hungary, Serbia, Romania, Bulgaria, Moldova, Ukraine, Russia, Kazakhstan, Mongolia, and China, occurring within a belt of roughly 4.7 million km² (Erdős et al., 2018a). We consider forest-steppes to be landscape mosaics composed of forests (dense communities of trees and shrubs, >2 m tall) intermixed with open grasslands of herbaceous plants. Proportions of forest and grassland vary, with forests typically occupying 10-70% of the mosaic landscape. Although extensive areas of forest-steppe have been destroyed in Europe, large tracts remain intact across Asia (Zlotin, 2002; Smelansky & Tishkov, 2012). The extensive geographic range of the foreststeppe encompasses a wide range of climatic conditions, including mean annual temperatures from 1 to 14 °C and mean annual precipitation from 210 to 600 mm (Erdős et al., 2018a).

Forest-steppes form mosaic landscapes of two ecosystem states: forest and grassland (Fig. 1B, C) (Erdős et al., 2018a). The forest state is dominated by deciduous and/or evergreen trees, including Betula pendula Roth (species nomenclature according to the Catalogue of Life, catalogueoflife.org), B. pubescens Ehrh. (Betulaceae), Larix gmelinii (Rupr.) Kuzen., L. sibirica Ledeb., Pinus sylvestris L. (Pinaceae), Populus neimongolica Doweld, P. tremula L. (Salicaceae), and Quercus robur L. (Fagaceae), whereas the grassland state is typically composed of perennial C_3 grasses, primarily species in the genera *Festuca* and Stipa (Poaceae). Boundaries between forests and grassland are typically stark and support a rich community of forbs and deciduous shrubs. In addition to many plant species that are common in the neighbouring temperate forest or steppe biomes, forest-steppes also have their own characteristic taxa that primarily occur in mosaics. These include the trees Acer tataricum L. (Sapindaceae) and Quercus robur (subspecies pedunculiflora; Fagaceae), the shrubs Prunus fruticosa Pall. (Rosaceae) (Fig. 1D), Ribes diacanthum Pall. (Grossulariaceae) and Spiraea aquilegifolia Pall. (Rosaceae), the perennial C_3 grasses (Poaceae) Brachypodium pinnatum (L.) P. Beauv., Helictochloa hookeri (Scribn.) Romero Zarco, and Melica altissima L., the sedges (Cyperaceae) Carex humilis Leyss. and C. michelii Host, and numerous forbs, including Artemisia latifolia Ledeb. (Asteraceae), Anemone sylvestris L. (Ranunculaceae), Cervaria rivini Gaertn. (Apiaceae), Iris ruthenica Ker Gawl. and Iris variegata L. (Fig. 1E) (Iridaceae), Pulsatilla patens (L.) Mill. (Ranunculaceae), Ranunculus polyanthemos L. (Ranunculaceae), and Trifolium montanum L. (Fabaceae). The forest-steppe is home to several endemics, including Colchicum arenarium Waldst. & Kit. (Colchicaceae) (Fig. 1F) and Dianthus diutinus Schult. (Caryophyllaceae) for the Carpathian Basin and Leymus tuvinicus Peschkova (Poaceae) and Pilosella tiumentzevii (Serg. & Üksip) Tupitz. (Asteraceae) for the South Siberian mountains (Jakucs, 1961; Walter & Breckle, 1989; Simon, 2000; Peshkova, 2001; Korotchenko & Peregrym, 2012: Rachkovskaya & Bragina, 2012; Smelansky & Tishkov, 2012; Makunina, 2017; H. Liu, personal communication).

In addition to their high biodiversity, forest-steppes are important for the ecosystem services they provide. Some of these services depend on the simultaneous availability of resources from the two ecosystem states (i.e. forest and grassland). For example, forest-steppes have been used as pastures for millennia, and still provide livelihoods for rural people throughout Eurasia (e.g. Rachkovskaya & Bragina, 2012; Smelansky & Tishkov, 2012). While grasslands are the main source of forage, forests provide wild fruits and acorns (Varga et al., 2020) and offer shelter for animals during extreme hot and cold weather (Gantuya et al., 2019). Moreover, forest edges (i.e. the contact zones between the two states) themselves are regarded as highly valuable pastures in Mongolia (Gantuya et al., 2019). Forests are also utilised for fuelwood collection and occasional selective logging (Hauck et al., 2012; Lkhagvadorj et al., 2013).

While there is growing consensus that forest and grassland ecosystem states can co-occur across a wide range of tropical and subtropical climates and soil conditions (Lehmann et al., 2011; Staver et al., 2011), due to the interplay of herbivory, fire, and vegetation feedbacks (Sankaran et al., 2005; Hoffmann et al., 2012; Murphy & Bowman, 2012), such a consensus regarding the interactive roles of climate and disturbance is lacking for the forest-steppe. We believe this lack of consensus is due to the historical emphasis on climate and soils in European vegetation ecology. Indeed, the distributions of the temperate forest biome and the temperate steppe biome are strongly predicted by climate across Eurasia (e.g. Schultz, 2005; Wang, Prentice & Ni, 2013; Evans & Brown, 2017). But now, after two decades of case studies in Eastern Central Europe (e.g. Bátori et al., 2018; Erdős et al., 2014a, 2018b, 2019a, 2021; Tölgyesi et al., 2020), Kazakhstan (e.g. Bátori et al., 2018; Tölgyesi et al., 2018), Mongolia (e.g. Dulamsuren et al., 2008a; Dulamsuren, Hauck & Mühlenberg, 2008b; Dulamsuren, Hauck & Leuschner, 2013; Hauck, Dulamsuren & Heimes, 2008; Khishigjargal et al., 2013; Ishikawa et al., 2018; Takatsuki, Sato & Morinaga, 2018), Russia (Anenkhonov et al., 2015; Makunina, 2016, 2017), and China (e.g. Liu et al., 2000, 2012, 2015), we have a substantial body of literature that enables a comprehensive overview of how climate,



Fig. 1. The distribution of forest-steppes in Eurasia (A), mosaic of forest and grassland ecosystem states in northern Kazakhstan (B, C), *Prunus fruticosa*, a typical shrub of forest-steppe ecosystems (D), *Iris variegata*, a forest-steppe herb (E), *Colchicum arenarium*, a grassland species endemic to the forest-steppes of the Carpathian Basin (F).

topography, soils, herbivores, and fire control forest-grassland coexistence in the Eurasian forest-steppe.

Such a synthetic approach to the ecology of the Eurasian forest-steppe is needed to inform environmental policy and land-management decisions, particularly in light of global calls to restore ecosystems for biodiversity and to plant trees to mitigate climate change. Tree planting is currently the primary emphasis of nature-based climate initiatives (Cook-Patton *et al.*, 2020; Baker, 2021), with ecosystems comprised

of a mixture of forests and grasslands among the target areas (Veldman *et al.*, 2019; Holl & Brancalion, 2020). There is a growing concern that afforestation programmes will compromise grassland biodiversity and ecosystem services in the short term, and by failing to consider climate–vegetation–fire–herbivore relationships, will fail to maintain carbon in planted trees over the long term (Parr *et al.*, 2014; Bond *et al.*, 2019). For example, the widespread pine plantations in forest-steppes are unreliable stores of carbon due to high

flammability (Cseresnyés, Szécsy & Csontos, 2011). The high water demand of forest-steppe trees compared to grasses can also lead to tree dieback in drought periods of the ongoing climate change (Kharuk *et al.*, 2017; Mátyás *et al.*, 2018), and the high water consumption of trees can desiccate soils beneath them, potentially suppressing their own growth (Tölgyesi *et al.*, 2020). Misguided afforestation is thus a looming threat to tropical savannas and grasslands globally (Veldman *et al.*, 2015; Tölgyesi *et al.*, 2022) and may be a similarly important, albeit less recognised concern for the Eurasian forest-steppe.

III. MODELS OF FOREST–GRASSLAND COEXISTENCE

(1) Climate

Most authors attribute the existence of the forest-steppe to intermediate climate, given that it occurs between the temperate forest and the continental steppe, two biomes over which climate exerts considerable control (e.g. Chibilyov, 2002; Pfadenhauer & Klötzli, 2014; Wesche et al., 2016; Erdős et al., 2018a; Wagner et al., 2020). Indeed, around the globe there are many examples of how climate constrains tree growth: arctic and alpine timberlines develop due to low temperature and arid timberlines are the result of low moisture availability (Stevens & Fox, 1991; Breshears, 2006; Bond, 2019). Consistent with these patterns, at the southern edge of the temperate forests of Eurasia, increasing climatic harshness deriving from decreasing precipitation and increasing annual temperature range (increasingly hot summers but still cold winters) plays a major role in constraining forest growth (Walter & Breckle, 1989: Schultz, 2005). This climatic harshness – defined as the combination of hot summers, cold winters, and aridity – is thus hypothesised to control forest distribution by limiting tree germination and survival. In Eurasian forest-steppes, climatic control has been confirmed for some species. For example, Dulamsuren et al. (2008b) found that the seedlings of Larix sibirica, one of the most important tree species in Mongolian forest-steppes, die in the steppe patches due to physiological damage caused by drought and high temperature, even if competition from grassland vegetation is eliminated. Similarly, Pinus sylvestris is limited primarily by low soil moisture (Dulamsuren et al., 2013). Quercus robur acorns in the sandy forest-steppes of the Carpathian Basin are often unable to germinate in grassland patches, and those that do germinate eventually suffer drought-induced mortality (Erdős et al., 2021). In addition to low moisture availability, extreme cold winters, which are typical of the interior of Eurasia due to the large distance from oceans and the dry, seldom overcast sky, can also decrease tree recruitment and growth (D'Odorico et al., 2013). Likewise, heat waves of the continental summers are also detrimental to trees, especially for isolated individuals that lack the protection of cooler microclimates of large forest patches (Shi et al., 2021).

Similar to forests, grasslands have their physiological optima under less harsh conditions, i.e. good water supply and lower temperature extremes. As evidence of this, where temperate or boreal forests are cleared to create hay meadows or pastures, highly productive grasses flourish (e.g. Rychnovská, 1993; Hejcman et al., 2013; Erdős et al., 2019b). With increasing climatic harshness towards the south, the height, density and productivity of grasses decrease; this trend continues throughout the steppe biome until grasslands are no longer viable, and deserts occur (Walter & Breckle, 1989; Schultz, 2005; Smelansky & Tishkov, 2012; Pfadenhauer & Klötzli, 2014; Li et al., 2020; Tishkov et al., 2020). In sum, both forest and grassland vitality decrease along the climatic harshness gradient, but forest vitality declines more sharply (Fig. 2A). At the intersection of the forest and grassland vitality curves, forest gives way to grassland. This Mean Climate Model suggests a sharp transition between forest and steppe, but not mosaics of forest and grasslands across broad geographic and climatic ranges (Fig. 2A).

The idea of mean climate parameters is, of course, a gross simplification of the many components of climate. The climate of forest-steppes is characterised by large interannual variation in precipitation and temperature (e.g. Walter & Breckle, 1989; Chibilyov, 2002), which results in variable levels of climatic harshness for trees. For example, the forest-steppes of the Carpathian Basin (mean annual precipitation = 500-600 mm) regularly experience years with less than 350 mm and years with more than 800 mm precipitation (Tölgyesi et al., 2016), while the long-term limit of tolerance of forests in the region is assumed to be around 500-550 mm. Wet periods may open windows for tree recruitment, whereas drier periods may prevent canopy closure and favour grassland species (Dulamsuren, Hauck & Mühlenberg, 2005b). This means that both forest and grassland vitality can have a certain range of variability along the mean climate gradient, expanding the climatically determined intersection point into a zone where neither forest nor grassland is more vital than the other on a permanent basis (Fig. 2B). As vegetation response to climate variability is often delayed (Yin et al., 2013; Hao et al., 2014), neither the forest nor the grassland can be expected to gain dominance over sufficiently long periods and over large areas, leading to forest-grassland coexistence in a mosaic pattern (House et al., 2003). This climatically determined conceptual model of forest-steppe is often referred to as the zonal foreststeppe in the literature (e.g. Molnár et al., 2012; Pfadenhauer & Klötzli, 2014; Bátori et al., 2018). This Zonal Model can explain forest-grassland coexistence only in a relatively narrow range. Thus, other factors in addition to climate have to be taken into consideration if we are to understand forestgrassland coexistence across the entire distribution of foreststeppe mosaics in Eurasia.

(2) Topography

Variations in topography can considerably modify the effect of climate by either decreasing or increasing local



Fig. 2. Conceptual models of the distribution of forest and grassland along a continuous climatic harshness gradient (H) in Eurasia. Climatic harshness reflects (generally north to south) gradients in temperature extremes (hot summers and cold winters) and aridity (precipitation and potential evapotranspiration). (A) The Mean Climate Model predicts a sharp forest–grassland boundary (marked by a vertical line) at the latitudinal intersection of forest and grassland vitality curves (F and G, respectively). (B) The Zonal Model accounts for temporal variation in climatic harshness: forest and grassland vitality (F and G, respectively) are represented by bands instead of thin lines, indicating that the vitality of both can vary across a certain range, depending on the actual climatic variations. Forest–

temperature and moisture availability in ways that affect the vitality of forests and grasslands (Walter & Breckle, 1989; 2002; Schultz, 2005; Pfadenhauer Chibilvov. & Klötzli, 2014). Topography plays a role in forest-grassland distributions within and beyond the climatically determined forest-steppe zone (Fig. 2B, C). Within the climatically determined (zonal) forest-steppes, topography influences where forest or grassland ecosystem states form and persist. Beyond this climatically determined zone, special topographical circumstances may also result in forest-grassland coexistence (Fig. 2C). This latter situation is frequently called extrazonal (e.g. Zolotareva, 2020), although we know of no substantial difference between the physiognomy of zonal and extrazonal forest-steppes, and their species compositions are similar (e.g. Borhidi, 2004).

The importance of topography is especially evident in the Inner Asian forest-steppe region (Mongolia, north and northeast China, and south Russia), where steep north-facing mountain slopes are usually covered by forests, steep southfacing slopes are occupied by steppes, and less extreme exposures can support either ecosystem state (e.g. Liu et al., 2000; Dulamsuren et al., 2005b; Anenkhonov et al., 2015; Hais, Chytrý & Horsák, 2016; Makunina, 2017). Liu et al. (2012) showed that topography controls forest and steppe distribution mainly through soil moisture. North-facing slopes receive a reduced amount of direct solar radiation, resulting in lower evaporation and, consequently, better soil moisture supply. This local decrease in aridity increases the vitality of forests relative to the steppe (Fig. 2C). By contrast, higher direct solar radiation on south-facing slopes increases temperature and reduces soil moisture. The associated local increase in aridity and heat stress decreases forest vitality relative to steppe vitality.

Ravines, erosion gullies, and depressions have cool and moist microclimates and increased soil water supply. Consequently, they support forests embedded among steppes in West Siberia (Lashchinsky, Korolyuk & Wesche, 2020) and eastern Europe (Walter & Breckle, 1989; Goncharenko & Kovalenko, 2019). Even very small topographical features may permit the formation of forest–grassland mosaics. For example, in the forest-steppes of western Siberia and northern Kazakhstan, shallow saucer-like depressions harbour circular forest patches in a steppe matrix, due to increased moisture input (Lavrenko & Karamysheva, 1993; Rachkovskaya & Bragina, 2012; Lashchinsky *et al.*, 2020). Similarly, small and shallow depressions support forest

grassland coexistence is possible in a narrow zone where grassland and forest bands overlap (enclosed by vertical lines). (C) In the Climatic–Topographic–Edaphic Model, slope, aspect, and soils expand the climatic ranges of forests and grasslands. Circular arrows indicate local reversals of forest and grassland vitality relationships with climate (F and G, respectively), while straight arrows show changes without reversal as a result of modified aridity due to special topographic or soil conditions. patches in the Carpathian Basin (Borhidi, Kevey & Lendvai, 2012) (Fig. 2C).

(3) Soil

Soil properties also profoundly influence water and nutrient availability for plants and thus are able significantly to influence forest and grassland distribution (Schultz, 2005; Pfadenhauer & Klötzli, 2014; Zech, Schad & Hintermaier-Erhard, 2014). Similar to topography, soils can modify both forest and grassland vitality within the climatically determined forest-steppe zone, and also broaden the forest-steppe zone in both directions along the harshness gradient (Fig. 3). In mosaics of the forest-steppe, soils beneath forests usually differ from those below grasslands, but it is often difficult to determine if these differences are primarily due to substrate or caused secondarily by the vegetation itself (Walter & Breckle, 1989). There are some cases in which primary soil characteristics apparently play a decisive role in forest *versus* grassland occurrence. For instance, gravelly soils within the Mongolian forest-steppe usually support the forest ecosystem state (Wallis de Vries, Manibazar & Dügerlham, 1996; Dulamsuren et al., 2009), apparently because coarse-texture soils permit rapid infiltration of precipitation to deeper soil layers where it is accessible by deep rooted woody plants, but not grassland species (Fig. 2C). Coarse soil texture can also contribute to the emergence of forest-steppe beyond its climatically determined interval (Fig. 2C). In the Naurzum



Fig. 3. Climatic–Topographic–Edaphic–Herbivore–Fire Model of forest–grassland coexistence, as determined by (1) climate (mean and variability), (2) topographic and edaphic factors (slope, aspect, soil texture, moisture availability), and (3) herbivory and fire. Circular arrows show how forest and grassland vitality (F and G, respectively) change as a result of local conditions evoked by special topographical or soil conditions (in zone 2) or as a result of fire and herbivores (in zone 3).

Nature Reserve of Kazakhstan, a vast sandy forest-steppe occurs surrounded on all sides by pure steppic grassland matrix associated with loamy and clayey soils (Rachkovskaya & Bragina, 2012; Bátori *et al.*, 2018). In a reversal of this pattern, in high-precipitation regions with a preponderance of temperate forest, shallow rocky soils often support patches of steppe-specialist plant species (Erdős *et al.*, 2014*b*; Boch *et al.*, 2019).

(4) Herbivory

Herbivory by large mammals is regarded as one of the main factors controlling the relative abundances of woody and herbaceous plants in savannas and forest-grassland mosaics. In tropical savannas grazers tend to increase, while browsers tend to decrease, woody cover (Roques, O'Connor & Watkinson, 2001; Augustine & McNaughton, 2004; Sankaran et al., 2005; Bond, 2008; Archer et al., 2017). Such effects may be dependent on herbivore pressure: Sankaran, Ratnam & Hanan (2008) found that grazers of African savannas increase woody abundance only at high grazing pressure, while low and medium grazing pressure have an opposite effect. Similarly, for semi-arid African savannas, Asner et al. (2004) and Archer (2010) concluded that heavy grazing increases woody plant abundance. In contrast to African ecosystems, the distinction between grazers and browsers is less clear in temperate regions (Owen-Smith, 2008). In the Eurasian forest-steppe, there is no evidence of grazer-induced woody encroachment. Here, in addition to browsers such as various species of deer (Cervidae) and goats (*Capra* spp.), animals that are typically considered grazers such as horses (Equus spp.), cattle (Bos taurus Linnaeus), European bison (Bison bonasus Linnaeus), and sheep (Ovis spp.) also feed on woody plants. Such browsing by 'grazers' combined with their trampling, wallowing, and uprooting of trees limits forest expansion into grasslands (Walter & Breckle, 1989; Wallis de Vries et al., 1996; Sankey, 2012). Grazers may also alter soil moisture availability indirectly by preventing the accumulation of dead plant material, which increases evaporation from the topsoil, rendering grasslands less suitable for tree seedlings (Walter & Breckle, 1989).

In addition to wild native herbivores, domestic ungulates are important to the ecology of the forest-steppe. Sheep, cattle, goats and horses are all regarded as limiting factors for tree establishment and survival in livestock-producing areas of Eurasia (e.g. Wallis de Vries *et al.*, 1996; Smelansky & Tishkov, 2012; Hais *et al.*, 2016; Török *et al.*, 2018). In Mongolia, Khishigjargal *et al.* (2013) found that livestock grazing can effectively limit forest encroachment at grassland edges by reducing sapling number through trampling. In temperate pastures of Mongolia, goats consume tree saplings even when fresh herbs are available (Lkhagvadorj *et al.*, 2013). In both Hungary and Mongolia, livestock prevent shrub establishment in grazed grasslands, whereas in areas with herbivore exclusion, shrubs can establish and survive (Varga *et al.*, 2015; Takatsuki *et al.*, 2018).

The capacity of large native herbivores to push forestgrassland balance towards grasslands is generally accepted in the temperate zone of Eurasia (e.g. Lavrenko & Karamysheva, 1993; Vera, 2000; Wagner et al., 2020) and other temperate regions (Bredenkamp, Spada & Kazmierczak, 2002). Great populations of now-threatened or extinct Holocene herbivores such as tarpan (wild horse, Equus ferus Boddaert), takh (Przewalski's horse, E. przewalskii Poliakov), onager (Asian wild ass, E. hemionus Pallas), wild ox (Bos taurus primigenius), Eurasian elk (Alces alces Linnaeus), and saiga antelope (Saiga tatarica Linnaeus) once inhabited the Eurasian forest-steppe and certainly influenced forest-grassland dynamics (Walter & Breckle, 1989; Chibilyov, 2002; Pfeiffer, Dulamsuren & Wesche, 2020; Török et al., 2020; Wagner et al., 2020). Although the historical population sizes of these large native herbivores are unknown, some authors assume that low densities of domestic livestock may serve a similar ecological function to maintain grasslands (Wallis de Vries et al., 1996; Wesche & Treiber, 2012; Pfeiffer et al., 2020).

In addition to large ungulates, other important groups of animals in the forest-steppe are rodents and insects. Hamster (*Cricetus cricetus* Linnaeus), marmots (*Marmota* spp.), and voles (e.g. *Microtus* spp. and *Myodes* spp.) (Walter & Breckle, 1989; Lavrenko & Karamysheva, 1993; Chibilyov, 2002) consume seeds and seedlings of trees, and thus may limit tree establishment in the grassland ecosystem state and at the forest edge (Dulamsuren *et al.*, 2008*b*; Hauck *et al.*, 2008). Insects such as orthopterans and gypsy moth (*Lymantria dispar* Linnaeus) contribute to tree mortality by defoliating seedlings in the grassland ecosystem state (Dulamsuren *et al.*, 2008*b*) and damaging both seedlings and mature trees at the forest edges (Hauck *et al.*, 2008).

In sum, where herbivory disproportionately damages woody plants relative to grasses and forbs, forest vitality is reduced and grasslands may occupy areas where the climate is humid enough and soil moist enough theoretically to support forests. In light of the extensive evidence that the forest-steppe developed under the influence of a rich assemblage of Holocene large herbivores, and is now maintained by both native animals and domestic livestock, we suggest that our understanding of the coexistence of forests and grasslands should incorporate herbivory (Fig. 3), not just climate, soils, and topography (Fig. 2C).

(5) **Fire**

Most grasses and forbs are able to resprout after a fire event relatively quickly from underground organs and regenerate from the seedbank, whereas woody species, except some fire-tolerant or resprouting ones, need decades if not centuries to reestablish (Bond, 2008). Although few Eurasian studies examine the effects of fire on vegetation in general, and on the forest–grassland balance in particular (Valkó *et al.*, 2014), fire is regarded as being capable of limiting woody vegetation, even in moist sites that would otherwise permit development of forests (e.g. Walter & Breckle, 1989; Korotchenko & Peregrym, 2012). According to Kertész *et al.* (2017) and Ónodi et al. (2021), severe wildfires are able to eliminate the forest ecosystem state from the forest-steppes, shifting the forest-grassland balance in favour of grasslands. Forest patches containing *Juniperus communis* L. are particularly vulnerable to fires, as juniper is highly flammable and cannot resprout (Kertész et al., 2017; Ónodi et al., 2021). Erdős (2014) found that wildfires in forest-steppes can open up the canopy layer, and the regeneration of the forest may take several decades. *Pinus sylvestris* of large diameter are able to with-stand surface fires of low to medium intensity (Wirth, 2005), but not high-intensity crown fires; *Pinus sylvestris* stands killed by fire can be very slow to recover, requiring decades to regrow (Ivanova et al., 2010; Barrett et al., 2020).

Because humans are responsible for many fires today, the current frequency of fires in the forest-steppe is often regarded as 'unnatural'. While it is true that fire has long been used by humans to prevent woody encroachment into grasslands and maintain pastures for livestock (Smelansky to & Tishkov, 2012; Valkó et al., 2014; Novenko et al., 2016; Unkelbach et al., 2018), burning by humans may be viewed as perpetuating fire as an ancient ecological process in the region. Indeed, palaeoecological evidence suggests that natural (lightningignited) wildfires regularly occurred in many regions of the forest-steppe, including the Carpathian Basin (Magyari et al., 2010); the Mongolian Altai (Unkelbach et al., 2018), and European Russia (Novenko et al., 2018). This may not be recognised, because fires today are usually suppressed near human settlements. But in remote forest-steppe regions fire continues to play an important ecological role to maintain grasslands in places that could otherwise develop into forests (e.g. Kertész et al., 2017; Erdős et al., 2018a; Kolář et al., 2020; Wagner et al., 2020). In contrast to tropical savannas of C_4 grasses, which can burn annually, wildfires are much less frequent in foreststeppes: recent research indicates that fire-free intervals in Eurasian forest-steppes have ranged from several years to a couple of decades or even centuries during the Holocene, with considerable temporal variations due to climatic modifications and human activity (Ivanova et al., 2010; Hessl et al., 2012, 2016; Feurdean et al., 2013; Novenko et al., 2018; Rudenko et al., 2019; Kolář et al., 2020). Generally, fires in forest-steppes are more frequent than in boreal forests but less frequent than in open grasslands of the steppe biome (Barrett et al., 2020).

In sum, fire is able to limit forest vitality, and thus modify forest–grassland proportions anywhere in the forest-steppe, reducing tree cover below the potential allowed by climate, soil, and topography. For our understanding of the wide climatic and geographic distribution of the forest-steppe, the effects of fire are most important at the humid end of the climatic harshness gradient (Fig. 3). Here, fire is not just a modifier but, alongside herbivory, is essential to prevent canopy closure, and enable long-term forest–grassland coexistence.

(6) Vegetation feedbacks and alternative ecosystem states

Emerging theory on grassland-forest coexistence and the distribution of savanna and forest biomes details how vegetation feedbacks that reinforce either grass or tree dominance contribute to the stability of alternative ecosystem states under the same climate (Staver et al., 2011; Hirota et al., 2011; Murphy et al., 2016; Staal et al., 2018a,b). In the tropics, these ideas have focused on the distinct and generally opposite influences of grasses and trees on ecosystem flammability (fire), forage quantity and quality (herbivory), resource availability (e.g. light, water, nutrients), microclimate (temperature and humidity), and tree establishment and survival (Hoffmann et al., 2012; Murphy & Bowman, 2012; Pausas & Dantas, 2017). Based on our review of literature from the forest-steppe, we suggest that vegetation feedbacks are also important for understanding the distributions and stability of grassland-forest mosaics in Eurasia. These feedbacks are critical to the interpretation of our hierarchical models, in which grassland and forest plant communities are not merely passive entities whose distributions are determined by combined effects of climate variability, soils, topography, herbivores, and fire. Instead, we view trees and herbaceous plants of the forest-steppe as active ecosystem engineers, who themselves influence forest and grassland vitality across a wide geographic range in Eurasia.

Trees of the forest-steppe have strong feedbacks on local conditions beneath their canopy. Tree canopies intercept solar radiation, leading to low light availability, cooler diurnal temperature and higher relative air humidity at the forest floor, and the canopy reduces heat loss at night compared to the steppes (Breshears *et al.*, 1997; D'Odorico *et al.*, 2013; Tölgyesi *et al.*, 2018, 2020; Süle *et al.*, 2020). Microclimatic extremes are also tempered within forest patches by the edges acting as wind breaks and thus attenuating evaporation compared to adjacent grasslands (Davies-Colley, Payne & van Elswijk, 2000). The altered conditions impose a strong filter, limiting the growth of light-demanding plant species, while facilitating shade-tolerant and drought-sensitive species, for which the steppe does not offer suitable habitat (Erdős *et al.*, 2014*a*; Lashchinskiy *et al.*, 2017; Tölgyesi *et al.*, 2018).

As for soil moisture availability, the effects of trees are rather mixed in the forest-steppe, and it is difficult to separate a priori moisture differences caused by topography and soil structure from true forest-moisture feedbacks. The proportion of precipitation intercepted by tree canopies and the leaf litter can be high (up to 70% of each rainfall event; Yang et al., 2019), especially in coniferous forests, where interception captures not just rain, but also causes considerable amounts of snow to sublime before reaching the ground. At the arid southern edge of the forest-steppe in Kazakhstan, mid-summer topsoil can be drier under forest tree canopies than in adjacent open steppes (Tölgyesi et al., 2018). In climatically less harsh sites, such as the sand regions of the Carpathian Basin, forest topsoil tends to be moister than that of the steppe patches (Erdős et al., 2018b, 2021) but deeper soils are desiccated, with the rate of desiccation dependent on whether trees are deciduous or evergreen (Tölgyesi et al., 2020). It is an open question though, whether the moisture surplus in the topsoil is solely a consequence of the reduced evaporation due to the cool shaded microclimate

or if trees bring deep water up to the topsoil *via* hydraulic lift, as occurs in many semi-arid regions (Yu & D'Odorico, 2015).

The overall effect of trees on grassland species seems to be negative, with a sparser herbaceous layer in forests compared to grasslands (Erdős et al., 2014a; Tölgyesi et al., 2018). The herbaceous layer species compositions in grasslands and forests show little overlap, thus it is unclear whether the trees directly exclude steppe species, or do so indirectly by allowing the growth of species that are competitively superior in shaded conditions. Conditions beneath forests, which are unsuitable for grassland species, can facilitate tree recruitment by attenuating heat and water stress during the summer, and reducing cold stress in winter and early spring (Dulamsuren et al., 2008a,b; Erdős et al., 2021). In addition, the sparser herb layer in the forests is less flammable, limiting the spread and intensity of wildfires compared to the grasslands. Saplings are thus more likely to survive fires inside the forest, but this has not been tested. Such fire protection may not apply to forests composed of highly flammable conifers (Pinus spp. or Juniperus spp.), which can burn intensely and regenerate slowly if their crown catches fire (Kolář et al., 2020; Ónodi et al., 2021). Shaded conditions in the forest patches are likely to limit tree saplings too, but less than by the grassland species, since most forest-steppe trees are widespread components of closed-canopy temperate and boreal forests where there has been strong evolutionary selection for shade tolerance (Valladares & Niinemets, 2008).

Parallel to the favourable recruitment conditions of trees inside forests, conditions in the grassland state promote the recruitment and persistence of steppe species for a number of reasons. Fire, which can suppress saplings in the steppe, causes little harm to the belowground organs or the seedbank of grasses and forbs, for which the conditions after the fire provide excellent opportunities for regeneration via resprouts, clonal spread, or seed germination (Onodi et al., 2021). Contributing to a positive fire feedback, after burning, aboveground plant productivity is enhanced relative to pre-fire levels (Valkó et al., 2016). Herbaceous plants in steppes benefit from a sharper drop in nocturnal temperature relative to temperatures in forests, which often leads to dew formation (Lellei-Kovács et al., 2008; Tölgvesi et al., 2018), which is an important moisture source for herbaceous plants in water-limited ecosystems (Agam & Berliner, 2006). Tree saplings in the steppes are less able to benefit from dew because they have few superficial roots. Furthermore, there is evidence that the belowground competitive effects of grasses can directly constrain tree growth in the Eurasian forest-steppe (Walter & Breckle, 1989; Peltzer & Köchy, 2001). However important direct grass-tree competition may be, competition alone is not necessarily strong enough to exclude trees completely from invading grass-dominated communities (Wilson & Peltzer, 2021). In Eurasian forest-steppes, competitive effects of grasses on trees are probably best viewed a minor vegetation feedback, relative to the strong influence of the steppe microclimate, fires, and herbivores in limiting tree establishment.

The effective recruitment of trees and grasses in association with the forest and the steppe ecosystem states, respectively, stabilises their position and distinctness, contributing to the mosaic vegetation structure. The resulting stability of the forest edges is also reflected by distinct, species-rich edge communities in forest-steppes (Erdős *et al.*, 2014*a*; Bátori *et al.*, 2018). This overall pattern means for our hierarchical conceptual model that in sites where climate as well as topography, soil, herbivory and fire allow the co-existence of forest and steppe, vegetation feedbacks further stabilise spatial patterns by hindering state transitions (i.e. hysteresis; Ratajczak *et al.*, 2018). This stable patch pattern has been confirmed for Hungarian forest-steppes by historical map interpretation (Erdős *et al.*, 2015). The stabilising feedbacks may lend considerable resilience of both forest and grassland ecosystem states to environmental changes, as highlighted by Xu *et al.* (2017) for Siberian forest-steppes.

IV. IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE CHALLENGES

Our conceptual models illustrate that the vegetation pattern in the Eurasian forest-steppe is a net result of multiple drivers with varying relative importance. Focussing on only one or a subset of the drivers can lead to a misinterpretation of patterns and processes and eventually to misguided conservation and restoration strategies. Ignoring the importance of natural disturbances is a common source of such problems. The northern and western fringes of the forest-steppe have long been assumed to be anthropogenic, given that the potential vegetation, determined by climate, soil and topography, was thought to be closed-canopy forest (Feurdean et al., 2018). This notion was reinforced by the fact that land abandonment leads to shrub encroachment and forest establishment in these areas (e.g. Deák et al., 2016). But how far should we look back to determine historical forest and grassland distributions? Given that prehistoric herds of wild ungulates that contributed to the forest-steppe physiognomy were extirpated millennia ago (Vera, 2000; Pfeiffer et al., 2020; Török et al., 2020), we suggest that the resulting lack of natural disturbance may have vielded forest expansion in otherwise uncultivated areas. If one takes a long-term view, deforestation in some areas may be viewed as a reversal of past forest expansion that was itself due to human-caused disruption of herbivore and fire disturbance regimes. Indeed, palaeoecological records show that steppe-specialist plants and animals were continuously present throughout the Holocene in many of the forest-steppes of debated origin, such as in the Carpathian Basin, i.e. the westernmost part of the present-day forest-steppe (Magyari et al., 2010; Feurdean et al., 2018). The meadow-steppe patches in the northern edge of south Siberian forest-steppes were also mostly considered end-products of forest clearing (e.g. Ermakov & Maltseva, 1999), even though they are often rich in steppespecialist plants, while ruderal species are scarce (Kämpf et al., 2016), which is inconsistent with a purely anthropogenic origin. Similarly, while Hilbig (2000) argued that the Mongolian forest-steppe has formed as a result of anthropogenic activity, field evidence suggests that this ecosystem is of natural origin (Dulamsuren, Hauck & Mühlenberg, 2005*a*). With this in mind, we suggest that it is necessary to update our concept of primary (i.e. natural) forest-steppe ecosystems, and also consider natural disturbances as determinants of forest–grassland coexistence (Bond & Parr, 2010; Weigl & Knowles, 2014; Veldman *et al.*, 2015). We hope that future research in the forest-steppe will improve our understanding of the relative contributions of these different factors to forest–grassland coexistence (i.e. climate, topography, soil, herbivores, and fire).

Greater recognition that the forest-steppe is ancient will have consequences for ecosystem management. Some landscapes formerly considered secondary may actually represent the historical ecosystem state and should receive full attention for conservation or restoration. Of particular importance, traditional grassland management in the forest-steppe should be viewed as critical to the maintenance of high-biodiversity natural grasslands. In this sense, abandoning traditional grassland management and promoting afforestation is not restoration (Temperton *et al.*, 2019).

Restoration and management measures in the foreststeppe should become more holistic in their approach. Fortunately, a growing body of information on the ecology of community reassembly and best management practices is leading to growth in grassland restoration (e.g. Kämpf *et al.*, 2016; Török *et al.*, 2018; Tölgyesi *et al.*, 2019). By contrast, restoration of natural forests in the forest-steppe is rare, due to a focus on commercial tree plantations and intensive rotational forestry throughout the entire region (Cao, 2008; Erdős *et al.*, 2018*a*). Future forest-steppe restoration should pay attention to both grassland and forest ecosystem states, with consideration of historical proportions and configuration, while recognising that restoration will require planning for the maintenance of essential, but often overlooked natural levels of disturbance by herbivores and fire.

Forest-steppe restoration is a long-term enterprise; therefore it needs to account for future changes in the driving forces. Located between the temperate forest and grassland biomes, forest-steppes may be particularly susceptible to the effects of climate change. Climatic harshness in the Eurasian forest-steppe is projected to increase in the near future, decreasing forest vitality (Mátyás et al., 2018) and thereby favouring the advance of the steppes against the forests and an overall shift of the forest-steppe against temperate forests (Lu et al., 2009; Tchebakova, Parfenova & Soja, 2009). Thus, forest restoration should be restricted to the most favourable locations (i.e. northern slopes, moist depressions, etc.), and adaptive forestry may stop reforesting (or afforesting) sites where overall forest vitality is expected to fall below that of the grassland ecosystem state in the future. Once the vitality relationships turn in favour of grasslands, forests will no longer be sustainable. Vegetation feedbacks may delay the switch to grassland, but the eventual transition will be unpredictable and abrupt (Scheffer et al., 2001), and is likely to be realised in the form of forest dieback and wildfires. The restoration in the forest-steppe should resist the current global emphasis on forest-based carbon sequestration (Temperton *et al.*, 2019; Tölgyesi *et al.*, 2022), and recognise the belowground carbon and biodiversity benefits of conserving and restoring grasslands alongside forests across Eurasia.

V. CONCLUSIONS

(1) The emerging fire-herbivore paradigm, as well as the recent increase in the number of case studies makes it timely to revisit the determinants of forest-grassland coexistence at the interface of closed-canopy forests and open steppes. Through conceptual modelling and a literature review, we provide a comprehensive overview of the interacting drivers of forest-grassland coexistence in the Eurasian forest-steppe. (2) Although mean climate is the most widely acknowledged determinant, we show that the Mean Climate Model should result in a sharp transition between the temperate or boreal forest and steppe biomes, but not a mosaic of forests and grasslands (Fig. 2A).

(3) Accounting for temporal variation in climate, the Zonal Model can only explain the coexistence of forest and grass-land within a relatively narrow geographic range (Fig. 2B).

(4) Topography and edaphic conditions can modify forest and grassland patterns within the climatically determined forest-steppe zone, and are essential to explain the presence of forest-steppe across broad gradients in climatic harshness (Climatic–Topographic–Edaphic Model, Fig. 2C).

(5) Herbivory and fire are able to limit forest vitality and to decrease forest cover throughout the forest-steppe. However, their role is most important towards the humid end of the climatic harshness gradient, where herbivory and fire prevent canopy closure and thus favour the forest-steppe against closed-canopy forests (Climatic–Topographic–Edaphic–Herbivore–Fire Model, Fig. 3).

(6) Once the scene is set by these determinants of forest– grassland coexistence, vegetation feedbacks stabilise grassland and forest ecosystem states, lending considerable stability to the forest-steppe landscape configuration.

(7) Our hierarchical conceptual model highlights that many forest-steppes that have traditionally been considered secondary, represent, in fact, the historical landscape structure. Targets to restore native biodiversity or sequester atmospheric carbon should be revisited accordingly, and restorationists should think twice regarding the global call for tree planting in the Eurasian forest-steppe.

VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the National Research, Development and Innovation Office (FK 134384 to L. E., K 119225 and K 137573 to P. T., K 124796 to Z. B., and PD 132131 to C. T.), the New National Excellence Programme of the Ministry for Innovation and Technology from the source of the National Research, Development and Innovation Fund (ÚNKP-21-5-SZTE-591 to C. T. and ÚNKP-21-5-SZTE-581 to Z. B.), and the János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences (to L. E., Z. B., and C. T.). J. W. V. is supported by USDA-NIFA Sustainable Agricultural Systems Grant 2019-68012-29819, USDA-NIFA McIntire-Stennis Project 1016880, and the National Science Foundation under award DEB-1931232.

VII. REFERENCES

- AGAM, N. & BERLINER, P. R. (2006). Dew formation and water vapor adsorption in semi-arid environments—a review. *Journal of Arid Environments* **65**, 572–590.
- ALKEMADE, R., REID, R. S., VAN DEN BERG, M., DE LEEUW, J. & JEUKEN, M. (2013). Assessing the impacts of livestock production on biodiversity in rangeland ecosystems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, 20900–20905.
- ANENKHONOV, O. A., KOROLYUK, A. Y., SANDANOV, D. V., LIU, H., ZVEREV, A. A. & GUO, D. (2015). Soil-moisture conditions indicated by field-layer plants help identify vulnerable forests in the forest steppe of semi-arid Southern Siberia. *Ecological Indicators* 57, 196–207.
- ARCHER, S. R. (2010). Rangeland conservation and shrub encroachment: new perspectives on an old problem. In *Wild Rangelands: Conserving Wildlife While Maintaining Livestock in Semi-Arid Ecosystems* (eds J. T. DU TOIT, R. KOCK and J. C. DEUTSCH), pp. 53–97. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester.
- ARCHER, S. R., ANDERSEN, E. M., PREDICK, K. I., SCHWINNING, S., STEIDL, R. J. & WOODS, S. R. (2017). Woody plant encroachment: causes and consequences. In *Rangeland Systems: Processes, Management and Challenges* (ed. D. D. BRISKE), pp. 25–84. Springer, Cham.
- ASNER, G. P., ELMORE, A. J., OLANDER, L. P., MARTIN, R. E. & HARRIS, A. T. (2004). Grazing systems, ecosystem responses, and global change. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 29, 261–299.
- AUGUSTINE, D. J. & MCNAUGHTON, S. J. (2004). Regulation of shrub dynamics by native browsing ungulates on East African rangeland. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 41, 45–58.
- BAKER, J. C. A. (2021). Planting trees to combat drought. Nature Geoscience 14, 458-459.
- BARRETT, K., BAXTER, R., KUKAVSKAYA, E., BALZTER, H., SHVETSOV, E. & BURYAK, L. (2020). Postfire recruitment failure in Scots pine forests of southern Siberia. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 237, 111539.
- BÁTORI, Z., ERDŐS, L., KELEMEN, A., DEÁK, B., VALKÓ, O., GALLÉ, R., BRAGINA, T. M., KISS, P. J., KRÖEL-DULAY, G. & TÖLGYESI, C. (2018). Diversity patterns in sandy forest-steppes: a comparative study from the western and central Palaearctic. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 27, 1011–1030.
- BAUDENA, M., D'ANDREA, F. & PROVENZALE, A. (2010). An idealized model for treegrass coexistence in savannas: the role of life stage structure and fire disturbances. *Journal of Ecology* 98, 74–80.
- BEARD, J. S. (1953). The savanna vegetation of northern tropical America. *Ecological Monographs* 23, 149–215.
- BOCH, S., BEDOLLA, A., ECKER, K. T., GINZLER, C., GRAF, U., KÜCHLER, H., KÜCHLER, M., NOBIS, M. P., HOLDEREGGER, R. & BERGAMINI, A. (2019). Threatened and specialist species suffer from increased wood cover and productivity in Swiss steppes. *Flora* 258, 151444.
- BOND, W. J. (2008). What limits trees in C4 grasslands and savannas? Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 39, 641–659.
- BOND, W. J. (2019). Open Ecosystems: Ecology and Evolution beyond the Forest Edge. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- BOND, W. J. & PARR, C. L. (2010). Beyond the forest edge: ecology, diversity and conservation of the grassy biomes. *Biological Conservation* 143, 2395–2404.
- BOND, W. J., STEVENS, N., MIDGLEY, G. F. & LEHMANN, C. E. R. (2019). The trouble with trees: afforestation plans for Africa. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 34, 963–965.
- BORHIDI, A. (2004). Kerner és Rapaics szellemi örökségének tükröződése Magyarország növényföldrajzának mai megítélésben, különös tekintettel az Ősmátra-elméletre. *Tilia* 12, 199–226.
- BORHIDI, A., KEVEY, B. & LENDVAI, G. (2012). Plant Communities of Hungary. Academic Press, Budapest.
- BREDENKAMP, G. J., SPADA, F. & KAZMIERCZAK, E. (2002). On the origin of northern and southern hemisphere grasslands. *Plant Ecology* 163, 209–229.
- BRESHEARS, D. D. (2006). The grassland-forest continuum: trends in ecosystem properties for woody plant mosaics? Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 4, 96–104.

- BRESHEARS, D. D., RICH, P. M., BARNES, F. J. & CAMPBELL, K. (1997). Overstoryimposed heterogeneity in solar radiation and soil moisture in a semiarid woodland. *Ecological Applications* 7, 1201–1215.
- CAO, S. (2008). Why large-scale afforestation efforts in China have failed to solve the desertification problem. *Environmental Science & Technology* 42, 1826–1183.
- CHIBILYOV, A. (2002). Steppe and forest-steppe. In *The Physical Geography of Northern Eurasia* (ed. M. SHAHGEDANOVA), pp. 248–266. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- COOK-PATTON, S. C., LEAVITT, S. M., GIBBS, D., HARRIS, N. L., LISTER, K., ANDERSON-TEIXEIRA, K. J., BRIGGS, R. D., CHAZDON, R. L., CROWTHER, T. W., ELLIS, P. W., GRISCOM, H. P., HERRMANN, V., HOLL, K. D., HOUGHTON, R. A., LARROSA, C., *ET AL.* (2020). Mapping carbon accumulation potential from global natural forest regrowth. *Nature* 585, 545–550.
- CSERESNYÉS, I., SZÉCSY, O. & CSONTOS, P. (2011). Fire risk in Austrian pine (*Pinus nigra*) plantations under various temperature and wind conditions. *Acta Botanica Croatica* **70**, 157–166.
- DASS, P., HOULTON, B. Z., WANG, Y. & WARLIND, D. (2018). Grasslands may be more reliable carbon sinks than forests in California. *Environmental Research Letters* 13, 074027.
- DAVIES-COLLEY, R. J., PAYNE, G. W. & VAN ELSWIJK, M. (2000). Microclimate gradients across a forest edge. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 24, 111–121.
- DEÁK, B., VALKÓ, O., TÖRÖK, P. & TÓTHMÉRÉSZ, B. (2016). Factors threatening grassland specialist plants—a multi-proxy study on the vegetation of isolated grasslands. *Biological Conservation* 204, 255–262.
- D'ODORICO, P., HE, Y., COLLINS, S., DE WEKKER, S. F. J., ENGEL, V. & FUENTES, J. D. (2013). Vegetation-microclimate feedbacks in woodland-grassland ecotones. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 22, 364–379.
- DULAMSUREN, C., HAUCK, M., BADER, M., OSOKHJARGAL, D., OYUNGEREL, S., NYAMBAYAR, S., RUNGE, M. & LEUSCHNER, C. (2008a). Water relations and photosynthetic performance in Larix sibirica growing in the forest-steppe ecotone of northern Mongolia. *Tree Physiology* **29**, 99–110.
- DULAMSUREN, C., HAUCK, M. & LEUSCHNER, C. (2013). Seedling emergence and establishment of Pinus sylvestris in the Mongolian forest-steppe ecotone. *Plant Ecology* 214, 139–152.
- DULAMSUREN, C., HAUCK, M. & MÜHLENBERG, M. (2005a). Ground vegetation in the Mongolian taiga forest-steppe ecotone does not offer evidence for the human origin of grasslands. *Applied Vegetation Science* 8, 149–154.
- DULAMSUREN, C., HAUCK, M. & MÜHLENBERG, M. (2005b). Vegetation at the taiga forest–steppe borderline in the western Khentey Mountains, northern Mongolia. *Annales Botanici Fennici* 42, 411–426.
- DULAMSUREN, C., HAUCK, M. & MÜHLENBERG, M. (2008b). Insect and small mammal herbivores limit tree establishment in northern Mongolian steppe. *Plant Ecology* 195, 143–156.
- DULAMSUREN, C., HAUCK, M., NYAMBAYAR, S., BADER, M., OSOKHJARGAL, D., OYUNGEREL, S. & LEUSCHNER, C. (2009). Performance of Siberian elm (Ulmus pumila) on steppe slopes of the northern Mongolian mountain taiga: drought stress and herbivory in mature trees. Environmental and Experimental Botany 66, 18–24.
- ERDŐS, L. (2014). Post-fire regeneration of a forest-steppe: vegetation status 20 years after the fire event. *Tiscia* 40, 11–15.
- ERDŐS, L., AMBARLI, D., ANENKHONOV, O. A., BÁTORI, Z., CSERHALMI, D., KISS, M., KRÖEL-DULAY, G., LIU, H., MAGNES, M., MOLNÁR, Z., NAQINEZHAD, A., SEMENISHCHENKOV, Y. A., TÖLGYESI, C. & TÖRÖK, P. (2018a). The edge of two worlds: A new review and synthesis on Eurasian foreststeppes. *Applied Vegetation Science* 21, 345–362.
- ERDŐS, L., BÁTORI, Z., BEDE-FAZEKAS, Á., BIRÓ, M., DARÁNYI, N., MAGNES, M., PÁSZTOR, L., SENGL, P., SZITÁR, K., TÖLGYESI, C. & KRÖEL-DULAY, G. (2019a). Compositional and species richness trends along a centre-to-periphery gradient in forest-steppes of the southern Carpathian Basin. *Tuexenia* 39, 357–375.
- ERDŐS, L., KRÖEL-DULAY, G., BÁTORI, Z., KOVÁCS, B., NÉMETH, C., KISS, P. J. & TÖLGYESI, C. (2018b). Habitat heterogeneity as a key to high conservation value in forest-grassland mosaics. *Biological Conservation* **226**, 72–80.
- ERDŐS, L., KRSTONOŠIĆ, D., KISS, P. J., BÁTORI, Z., TÖLGYESI, C. & ŠKVORC, Ž. (2019b). Plant composition and diversity at edges in a semi-natural forest-grassland mosaic. *Plant Ecology* **220**, 279–292.
- ERDŐS, L., SZITÁR, K., ÖLLERER, K., ÓNODI, G., KERTÉSZ, M., TÖRÖK, P., BARÁTH, K., TÖLGYESI, C., BÁTORI, Z., SOMAY, L., ORBÁN, I. & KRÖEL-DULAY, G. (2021). Oak regeneration at the arid boundary of the temperate deciduous forest biome: insights from a seeding and watering experiment. *European Journal of Forest Research* 140, 589–601.
- ERDŐS, L., TÖLGYESI, C., CSEH, V., TOLNAY, D., CSERHALMI, D., KÖRMÖCZI, L., GELLÉNY, K. & BÁTORI, Z. (2015). Vegetation history, recent dynamics and future prospects of a Hungarian sandy forest-steppe reserve: forest-grassland relations, tree species composition and size-class distribution. *Community Ecology* 16, 95–105.
- ERDŐS, L., TÖLGYESI, C., HORZSE, M., TOLNAY, D., HURTON, Á., SCHULCZ, N., KÖRMÖCZI, L., LENGYEL, A. & BÁTORI, Z. (2014a). Habitat complexity of the Pannonian forest-steppe zone and its nature conservation implications. *Ecological Complexity* 17, 107–118.

- ERDŐS, L., ZALATNAI, M., BÁTORI, Z. & KÖRMÖCZI, L. (2014b). Transitions between community complexes: a case study analysing gradients through mountain ridges in South Hungary. Acta Botanica Croatica 73, 63–77.
- ERMAKOV, N. & MALTSEVA, T. (1999). Phytosociological peculiarities of South Siberian forest meadows. *Annali di Botanica* 57, 63–72.
- EVANS, P. & BROWN, C. D. (2017). The boreal-temperate forest ecotone response to climate change. *Environmental Reviews* 25, 423–431.
- FEURDEAN, A., LIAKKA, J., VANNIÈRE, B., MARINOVA, E., HUTCHINSON, S. M., MOSBURGGER, V. & HICKLER, T. (2013). 12,000-Years of fire regime drivers in the lowlands of Transylvania (Central-Eastern Europe): a data-model approach. *Quaternary Science Reviews* 81, 48–61.
- FEURDEAN, A., RUPRECHT, E., MOLNÁR, Z., HUTCHINSON, S. M. & HICKLER, T. (2018). Biodiversity-rich European grasslands: ancient, forgotten ecosystems. *Biological Conservation* 228, 224–232.
- GANTUYA, B., AVAR, Á., BABAI, D., MOLNÁR, Á. & MOLNÁR, Z. (2019). "A herder's duty is to think": landscape partitioning and folk habitats of Mongolian herders in a mountain forest steppe (Khuvsugul-Murun region). *Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine* 15, 54.
- GONCHARENKO, I. & KOVALENKO, O. (2019). Oak forests of the class Quercetea pubescentis in Central-Eastern Ukraine. *Thaiszia Journal of Botany* **29**, 191–215.
- HAIS, M., CHYTRÝ, M. & HORSÁK, M. (2016). Exposure-related forest steppe: a diverse landscape type determined by topography and climate. *Journal of Arid Environments* 135, 75–84.
- HAO, Q., LIU, H., YIN, Y., WANG, H. & FENG, M. (2014). Varied responses of forest at its distribution margin to Holocene monsoon development in northern China. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology* 409, 239–248.
- HAUCK, M., DULAMSUREN, C. & HEIMES, C. (2008). Effects of insect herbivory on the performance of *Larix sibirica* in a forest-steppe ecotone. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 62, 351–356.
- HAUCK, M., JAVKHLAN, S., LKHAGVADORJ, D., BAYARTOGTOKH, B., DULAMSUREN, C. & LEUSCHNER, C. (2012). Edge and land-use effects on epiphytic lichen diversity in the forest-steppe ecotone of the Mongolian Altai. *Flora* **207**, 450–458.
- HEJCMAN, M., HEJCMANOVA, P., PAVLŮ, V. & BENEŠ, J. (2013). Origin and history of grasslands in Central Europe-a review. Grass and Forage Science 68, 345–363.
- HEMPSON, G. P., ARCHIBALD, S. & BOND, W. J. (2015). A continent-wide assessment of the form and intensity of large mammal herbivory in Africa. *Science* 350, 1056– 1061.
- HESSL, A. E., ARIYA, U., BROWN, P., BYAMBASUREN, O., GREEN, T., JACOBY, G., SUTHERLAND, E. K., NACHIN, B., MAXWELL, R. S., PEDERSON, N., DE GRANDPRÉ, L., SALADYGA, T. & TARDIF, J. C. (2012). Reconstructing fire history in central Mongolia from tree-rings. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* 21, 86–92.
- HESSL, A. E., BROWN, P., BYAMBASUREN, O., COCKRELI, S., LELAND, C., COOK, E., BAATARBILEG, N., PEDERSON, N., SALADYGA, T. & SURAN, B. (2016). Fire and climate in Mongolia (1532–2010 common era). *Geophysical Research Letters* 43, 6519–6527.
- HIGGINS, S. I., BOND, W. J. & TROLLOPE, W. S. (2000). Fire, resprouting and variability: a recipe for grass-tree coexistence in savanna. *Journal of Ecology* 88, 213–229.
- HILBIG, W. (2000). Forest distribution and retreat in the forest steppe ecotone of Mongolia. Marburger Geographische Schriften 135, 171–187.
- HIROTA, M., HOLMGREN, M., VAN NES, E. H. & SCHEFFER, M. (2011). Global resilience of tropical forest and savanna to critical transitions. *Science* 334, 232–235.
- HOFFMANN, W. A., GEIGER, E. L., GOTSCH, S. G., ROSSATTO, D. R., SILVA, L. C. R., LAU, O. L., HARIDASAN, M. & FRANCO, A. C. (2012). Ecological thresholds at the savanna-forest boundary: how plant traits, resources and fire govern the distribution of tropical biomes. *Ecology Letters* 15, 759–768.
- HOLDRIDGE, L. R. (1967). Life Zone Ecology. Tropical Science Center, San Jose.
- FOLL, K. D. & BRANCALION, P. H. S. (2020). Tree planting is not a simple solution. Science 368, 580–581.
- HOUSE, J. I., ARCHER, S., BRESHEARS, D. D., SCHOLES, R. J. & NCEAS TREE-GRASS INTERACTIONS PARTICIPANTS (2003). Conundrums in mixed woody-herbaceous plant systems. *Journal of Biogeography* **30**, 1763–1777.
- ISHIKAWA, M., JAMVALJAV, Y., DASHTSEREN, A., SHARKHUU, N., DAVAA, G., IJJIMA, Y., BAATARBILEG, N. & YOSHIKAWA, K. (2018). Thermal states, responsiveness and degradation of marginal permafrost in Mongolia. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes* 29, 271–282.
- IVANOVA, G. A., IVANOV, V. A., KUKAVSKAYA, E. A. & SOJA, A. J. (2010). The frequency of forest fires in Scots pine stands of Tuva, Russia. *Environmental Research Letters* 5, 015002.
- JAKUCS, P. (1961). Die phytozönologischen Verhältnisse der Flaumeichen-Buschwälder Südostmitteleuropas. Academic Press, Budapest.
- KÄMPF, I., MATHAR, W., KUZMIN, I., HÖLZEL, N. & KIEHL, K. (2016). Post-Soviet recovery of grassland vegetation on abandoned fields in the forest steppe zone of Western Siberia. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 25, 2563–2580.
- KERTÉSZ, M., ASZALÓS, R., LENGVEL, A. & ÓNODI, G. (2017). Synergistic effects of the components of global change: increased vegetation dynamics in open, forest-

steppe grasslands driven by wildfires and year-to-year precipitation differences. PLoS One **12**, e0188260.

- KHARUK, V. I., IM, S. T., PETROV, I. A., DVINSKAYA, M. L., FEDOTOVA, E. V. & RANSON, K. J. (2017). Fir decline and mortality in the southern Siberian Mountains. *Regional Environmental Change* 17, 803–812.
- KHISHIGJARGAL, M., DULAMSUREN, C., LKHAGVADORJ, D., LEUSCHNER, C. & HAUCK, M. (2013). Contrasting responses of seedling and sapling densities to livestock density in the Mongolian forest-steppe. *Plant Ecology* **214**, 1391–1403.
- KOLÁR, T., KUSBACH, A., ČERMÁK, P., ŠTĚRBA, T., BATKHUU, E. & RYBNÍČEK, M. (2020). Climate and wildfire effects on radial growth of *Pinus sylvestris* in the Khan Khentii Mountains, north-central Mongolia. *Journal of Arid Environments* 182, 104223.
- KOROTCHENKO, I. & PEREGRYM, M. (2012). Ukrainian steppes in the past, at present and in the future. In *Eurasian Steppes. Ecological Problems and Livelihoods in a Changing World* (eds M. J. A. WERGER and M. A. VAN STAALDUINEN), pp. 173–196. Springer, Dordrecht.
- LASHCHINSKIY, N., KOROLYUK, A., MAKUNINA, N., ANENKHONOV, O. & LIU, H. (2017). Longitudinal changes in species composition of forests and grasslands across the North Asian forest steppe zone. *Folia Geobotanica* 52, 175–197.
- LASHCHINSKY, N., KOROLYUK, A. & WESCHE, K. (2020). Vegetation patterns and ecological gradients: from forest to dry steppes. In *KULUNDA: Climate Smart Agriculture* (eds M. FRÜHAUF, G. GUGGENBERGER, T. MEINEL, I. THEESFELD and S. LENTZ), pp. 33–48. Springer, Cham.
- LAVRENKO, E. M. & KARAMYSHEVA, Z. V. (1993). Steppes of the former Soviet Union and Mongolia. In *Ecosystems of the world 8B. Natural grasslands. Eastern hemisphere and résumé* (ed. R. T. COUPLAND), pp. 3–59. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- LEHMANN, C. E., ANDERSON, T. M., SANKARAN, M., HIGGINS, S. I., ARCHIBALD, S., HOFFMANN, W. A., HANAN, N. P., WILLIAMS, R. J., FENSHAM, R. J., FELFILI, J., HUTLEY, L. B., RATNAM, J., SAN JOSE, J., MONTES, R., FRANKLIN, D., *ET AL.* (2014). Savanna vegetation-fire-climate relationships differ among continents. *Science* 343, 548–552.
- LEHMANN, C. E., ARCHIBALD, S. A., HOFFMANN, W. A. & BOND, W. J. (2011). Deciphering the distribution of the savanna biome. *New Phytologist* **191**, 197–209.
- LELLEI-KOVÁCS, E., KOVÁCS-LÁNG, E., KALAPOS, T., BOTTA-DUKÁT, Z., BARABÁS, S. & BEIER, C. (2008). Experimental warming does not enhance soil respiration in a semiarid temperate forest-steppe ecosystem. *Community Ecology* 9, 29–37.
- LI, F. Y., JÄSCHKE, Y., GUO, K. & WESCHE, K. (2020). Grasslands of China. In Encyclopedia of the World's Biomes (Volume 3, eds M. GOLDSTEIN and D. DELLASALA), pp. 773–784. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- LIU, H., CUI, H., POTT, R. & SPEIER, M. (2000). Vegetation of the woodland-steppe transition at the southeastern edge of the Inner Mongolian Plateau. *Journal of* Vegetation Science 11, 525–532.
- LIU, H., HE, S., ANENKHONOV, O. A., HU, G., SANDANOV, D. V. & BADMAEVA, N. K. (2012). Topography-controlled soil water content and the coexistence of forest and steppe in northern China. *Physical Geography* 33, 561–573.
- LIU, H., YIN, Y., WANG, Q. & HE, S. (2015). Climatic effects on plant species distribution within the forest-steppe ecotone in northern China. *Applied Vegetation Science* 18, 43–49.
- LKHAGVADORJ, D., HAUCK, M., DULAMSUREN, C. & TSOGTBAATAR, J. (2013). Twenty years after decollectivization: Mobile livestock husbandry and its ecological impact in the Mongolian forest-steppe. *Human Ecology* **41**, 725–735.
- LU, N., WILSKE, B., NI, J., JOHN, R. & CHEN, J. (2009). Climate change in Inner Mongolia from 1955 to 2005—trends at regional, biome and local scales. *Environmental Research Letters* 4, 045006.
- MAGYARI, E. K., CHAPMAN, J. C., PASSMORE, D. G., ALLEN, J. R. M., HUNTLEY, J. P. & HUNTLEY, B. (2010). Holocene persistence of wooded steppe in the Great Hungarian Plain. *Journal of Biogeography* 37, 915–935.
- MAKUNINA, N. I. (2016). Botanical and geographical characteristics of forest steppe of the Altai-Sayan Mountain Region. *Contemporary Problems of Ecology* 9, 342–348.
- MAKUNINA, N. I. (2017). Biodiversity of basic vegetation communities in forest steppes of the Altai-Sayan mountain region. *International Journal of Environmental Studies* 74, 674–684.
- MÁTYÁS, C., BERKI, I., BIDLÓ, A., CSÓKA, G., CZIMBER, K., FÜHRER, E., GÁLOS, B., GRIBOVSZKI, Z., ILLÉS, G. & SOMOGYI, Z. (2018). Sustainability of forest cover under climate change on the temperate-continental xeric limits. *Forests* 9, 489.
- MOLNÁR, Z., BIRÓ, M., BARTHA, S. & FEKETE, G. (2012). Past trends, present state and future prospects of Hungarian forest-steppes. In *Eurasian Steppes: Ecological Problems and Livelihoods in a Changing World* (eds M. J. A. WERGER and M. A. VAN STAALDUINEN), pp. 209–252. Springer, Dordrecht.
- MURPHY, B. P., ANDERSEN, A. N. & PARR, C. L. (2016). The underestimated biodiversity of tropical grassy biomes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 371, 20150319.
- MURPHY, B. P. & BOWMAN, D. M. (2012). What controls the distribution of tropical forest and savanna? *Ecology Letters* 15, 748–758.
- MYERS, N., MITTERMEIER, R. A., MITTERMEIER, C. G., DA FONSECA, G. A. B. & KENT, J. (2000). Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature* 403, 853–858.

- NOVENKO, E. Y., TSYGANOV, A. N., PAYNE, R. J., MAZEI, N. G., VOLKOVA, E. M., CHERNYSHOV, V. A., KUPRIYANOV, D. A. & MAZEI, Y. A. (2018). Vegetation dynamics and fire history at the southern boundary of the forest vegetation zone in European Russia during the middle and late Holocene. *The Holocene* **28**, 308–322.
- NOVENKO, E. Y., TSYGANOV, A. N., RUDENKO, O. V., VOLKOVA, E. V., ZUYGANOVA, I. S., BABESHKO, K. V., OLCHEV, A. V., LOSBENEV, N. I., PAYNE, R. J. & MAZEI, Y. A. (2016). Mid-and late-Holocene vegetation history, climate and human impact in the forest-steppe ecotone of European Russia: new data and a regional synthesis. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 2, 2453–2472.
- ÓNODI, G., KERTÉSZ, M., LENGVEL, A., PÁNDI, I., SOMAY, L., SZITÁR, K. & KRÖEL-DULAY, G. (2021). The effects of woody plant encroachment and wildfire on plant species richness and composition: temporal changes in a forest-steppe mosaic. *Applied Vegetation Science* 24, e12546.
- OWEN-SMITH, N. (2008). The comparative population dynamics of browsing and grazing ungulates. In *The Ecology of Browsing and Grazing* (eds I. J. GORDON and H. H. T. PRINS), pp. 149–177. Springer, Berlin.
- PARR, C. L., LEHMANN, C. E., BOND, W. J., HOFFMANN, W. A. & ANDERSEN, A. N. (2014). Tropical grassy biomes: misunderstood, neglected, and under threat. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 29, 205–213.
- PAUSAS, J. G. & BOND, W. J. (2019). Humboldt and the reinvention of nature. *Journal of Ecology* 107, 1031–1037.
- PAUSAS, J. G. & DANTAS, V. D. L. (2017). Scale matters: fire-vegetation feedbacks are needed to explain tropical tree cover at the local scale. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 26, 395–399.
- PELTZER, D. A. & KÖCHY, M. (2001). Competitive effects of grasses and woody plants in mixed-grass prairie. *Journal of Ecology* 89, 519–527.
- PESHKOVA, G. A. (2001). Florogenetic Analysis of the Steppe Flora of the Southern Siberian Mountains. Nauka, Novosibirsk. (In Russian).
- PFADENHAUER, J. S. & KLÖTZLI, F. A. (2014). Vegetation der Erde: Grundlagen, Ökologie, Verbreitung. Springer, Berlin.
- PFEIFFER, M., DULAMSUREN, C. & WESCHE, K. (2020). Grasslands and shrublands of Mongolia. In *Encyclopedia of World'd Biomes* (Volume 3, eds M. I. GOLDSTEIN and D. A. DELLASALA), pp. 759–772. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- RACHKOVSKAYA, E. I. & BRAGINA, T. M. (2012). Steppes of Kazakhstan: Diversity and present state. In *Eurasian Steppes. Ecological Problems and Livelihoods in a Changing World* (eds M. J. A. WERGER and M. A. VAN STAALDUINEN), pp. 103–148. Springer, Dordrecht.
- RATAJCZAK, Z., CARPENTER, S. R., IVES, A. R., KUCHARIK, C. J., RAMIADANTSOA, T., STEGNER, M. A., WILLIAMS, J. W., ZHANG, J. & TURNER, M. G. (2018). Abrupt change in ecological systems: inference and diagnosis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 33, 513–526.
- RATAJCZAK, Z., D'ODORICO, P. & YU, K. (2017). The Enemy of My Enemy Hypothesis: why coexisting with grasses may be an adaptive strategy for savanna trees. *Ecosystems* 20, 1278–1295.
- ROQUES, K. G., O'CONNOR, T. G. & WATKINSON, A. R. (2001). Dynamics of shrub encroachment in an African savanna: relative influences of fire, herbivory, rainfall and density dependence. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 38, 268–280.
- RUDENKO, O. V., VOLKOVA, E. M., BABESHKO, K. V., TSYGANOV, A. N., MAZEI, Y. A. & NOVENKO, E. Y. (2019). Late Holocene vegetation dynamics and human impact in the catchment basin of the Upper Oka River (Mid-Russian Uplands): A case study from the Orlovskoye Polesye National Park. *Quaternary International* 504, 118–127.
- RYCHNOVSKÁ, M. (1993). Temperate semi-natural grasslands of Eurasia. In *Ecosystems of the World 8B. Natural Grasslands. Eastern Hemisphere and Résumé* (ed. R. T. COUPLAND), pp. 125–166. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- SANKARAN, M., HANAN, N. P., SCHOLES, R. J., RATNAM, J., AUGUSTINE, D. J., CADE, B. S., GIGNOUX, J., HIGGINS, S. I., LE ROUX, X., LUDWIG, F., ARDO, J., BANYIKWA, F., BRONN, A., BUCINI, G., CAYLOR, K. K., *et al.* (2005). Determinants of woody cover in African savannas. *Nature* **438**, 846–849.
- SANKARAN, M., RATNAM, J. & HANAN, N. P. (2004). Tree-grass coexistence in savannas revisited – insights from an examination of assumptions and mechanisms invoked in existing models. *Ecology Letters* 7, 480–490.
- SANKARAN, M., RATNAM, J. & HANAN, N. P. (2008). Woody cover in African savannas: the role of resources, fire and herbivory. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 17, 236–245.
- SANKEY, T. T. (2012). Woody-herbaceous-livestock interaction. In *Ecotones between Forest and Grassland* (ed. R. W. MYSTER), pp. 89–114. Springer, New York.
- SARMIENTO, G. (1984). The Ecology of Neotropical Savannas. Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- SCHEFFER, M., CARPENTER, S., FOLEY, J. A., FOLKE, C. & WALKER, B. (2001). Catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. *Nature* **413**, 591–596.
- SCHOLES, R. J. & ARCHER, S. R. (1997). Tree-grass interactions in savannas. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 28, 517–544.
- SCHULTZ, J. (2005). The Ecozones of the World. Springer, Berlin.
- SHI, L., LIU, H., XU, C., LIANG, B., CAO, J., CRESSEY, E. L., QUINE, T. A., ZHOU, M. & ZHAO, P. (2021). Decoupled heatwave-tree growth in large forest

patches of Larix sibirica in northern Mongolian Plateau. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 311, 108667.

- SIMON, T. (2000). A magyarországi edényes flóra határozója. Nemzeti Tankönyvkiadó, Budapest.
- SMELANSKY, I. E. & TISHKOV, A. A. (2012). The steppe biome in Russia: ecosystem services, conservation status, and actual challenges. In *Eurasian Steppes. Ecological Problems and Livelihoods in a Changing World* (eds M. J. A. WERGER and M. A. VAN STAALDUINEN), pp. 45–101. Springer, Dordrecht.
- STAAL, A., TUINENBURG, O. A., BOSMANS, J. H. C., HOLMGREN, M., VAN NES, E. H., SCHEFFER, M., ZEMP, D. C. & DEKKER, S. C. (2018a). Forest-rainfall cascades buffer against drought across the Amazon. *Nature Climate Change* 8, 539–543.
- STAAL, A., VAN NES, E. H., HANTSON, S., HOLMGREN, M., DEKKER, S. C., PUEYO, S., XU, C. & SCHEFFER, M. (2018b). Resilience of tropical tree cover: the roles of climate, fire, and herbivory. *Global Change Biology* 24, 5096–5109.
- STAVER, A. C., ARCHIBALD, S. & LEVIN, S. A. (2011). The global extent and determinants of savanna and forest as alternative biome states. *Science* **334**, 230–232.
- STAVER, A. C., BOTHA, J. & HEDIN, L. (2017). Soils and fire jointly determine vegetation structure in an African savanna. *New Phytologist* **216**, 1151–1160.
- STEVENS, G. C. & FOX, J. F. (1991). The causes of treeline. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 22, 177–191.
- SÜLE, G., BALOGH, J., FÓTI, S., GECSE, B. & KÖRMÖCZI, L. (2020). Fine-scale microclimate pattern in forest-steppe habitat. *Forests* 11, 1078.
- TAKATSUKI, S., SATO, M. & MORINAGA, Y. (2018). Effects of grazing on grassland communities of the forest-steppe of northern Mongolia: A comparison of grazed versus ungrazed places. *Grassland Science* 64, 167–174.
- TCHEBAKOVA, N., PARFENOVA, E. & SOJA, A. (2009). The effects of climate, permafrost and fire on vegetation change in Siberia in a changing climate. *Environmental Research Letters* **4**, 045013.
- TEMPERTON, V. M., BUCHMANN, N., BUISSON, E., DURIGAN, G., KAZMIERCZAK, Ł., PERRING, M. P., DE SÁ DECHOUM, M., VELDMAN, J. W. & OVERBECK, G. E. (2019). Step back from the forest and step up to the Bonn Challenge: how a broad ecological perspective can promote successful landscape restoration. *Restoration Ecology* 27, 705–719.
- TISHKOV, A., BELONOVSKAY, E., SMELANSKY, I., TITOVA, S., TROFIMOV, I. & TROFIMOVA, L. (2020). Temperate grasslands and Shrublands of Russia. In *Encyclopedia of the World's Biomes* (Volume 3, eds M. GOLDSTEIN and D. DELLASALA), pp. 725–749. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- TÖLGYESI, C., BUISSON, E., HEM, A., TEMPERTON, V. M. & TÖRÖK, P. (2022). Urgent need for updating the slogan of global climate actions from "tree planting" to "restore native vegetation.". *Restoration Ecology* **30**, e13594.
- TÖLGVESI, C., TÖRÖK, P., HÁBENCZYUS, A. A., BÁTORI, Z., VALKÓ, O., DEÁK, B., TÓTHMÉRÉSZ, B., ERDŐS, L. & KELEMEN, A. (2020). Underground deserts below fertility islands? – Woody species desiccate lower soil layers in sandy drylands. *Ecography* 43, 848–859.
- TÖLGYESI, C., TÖRÖK, P., KUN, R., CSATHÓ, A. I., BÁTORI, Z., ERDŐS, L. & VADÁSZ, C. (2019). Recovery of species richness lags behind functional recovery in restored grasslands. *Land Degradation and Development* **30**, 1083–1094.
- TÖLGYESI, C., VALKÓ, O., DEÁK, B., KELEMEN, A., BRAGINA, T. M., GALLÉ, R., ERDŐS, L. & BÁTORI, Z. (2018). Tree-herb co-existence and community assembly in natural forest-steppe transitions. *Plant Ecology and Diversity* 11, 465–477.
- TÖLGYESI, C., ZALATNAI, M., ERDŐS, L., BÁTORI, Z., HUPP, N. R. & KÖRMÖCZI, L. (2016). Unexpected ecotone dynamics of a sand dune vegetation complex following water table decline. *Journal of Plant Ecology* 9, 40–50.
- TÖRÖK, P., DEMBICZ, I., DAJIĆ-STEVANOVIĆ, Z. & KUZEMKO, A. (2020). Grasslands of eastern Europe. In *Encyclopedia of World'd Biomes* (Volume 3, eds M. I. GOLDSTEIN and D. A. DELLASALA), pp. 703–713. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- TÖRÖK, P., JANIŠOVÁ, M., KUZEMKO, A., RŪSIŅA, S. & DAJIĆ, S. Z. (2018). Grasslands, their threats and management in Eastern Europe. In Grasslands of the World: Diversity, Management and Conservation (eds V. R. SQUIRES, J. DENGLER, H. FENG and L. HUA), pp. 64–88. CRC Press, New York.
- UNKELBACH, J., DULAMSUREN, C., PUNSALPAAMUU, G., SAINDOVDON, D. & BEHLING, H. (2018). Late Holocene vegetation, climate, human and fire history of the forest-steppe-ecosystem inferred from core G2-A in the 'Altai Tavan Bogd' conservation area in Mongolia. Vegetation History and Archaeobotany 27, 665–677.
- VALKÓ, O., DEÁK, B., MAGURA, T., TÖRÖK, P., KELEMEN, A., TÓTH, K., HORVÁTH, R., NAGY, D. D., DEBNÁR, Z., ZSIGRAI, G., KAPOCSI, I. & TÓTHMÉRÉSZ, B. (2016). Supporting biodiversity by prescribed burning in grasslands—a multi-taxa approach. *Science of the Total Environment* 572, 1377– 1384.
- VALKÓ, O., TÖRÖK, P., DEÁK, B. & TÓTHMÉRÉSZ, B. (2014). Prospects and limitations of prescribed burning as a management tool in European grasslands. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 15, 26–33.

- VALLADARES, F. & NIINEMETS, Ü. (2008). Shade tolerance, a key plant feature of complex nature and consequences. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 39, 237–257.
- VARGA, A., DEMETER, L., ULICSNI, V., ÖLLERER, K., BIRÓ, M., BABAI, D. & MOLNÁR, Z. (2020). Prohibited, but still present: local and traditional knowledge about the practice and impact of forest grazing by domestic livestock in Hungary. *Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine* 16, 51.
- VARGA, A., ÓDOR, P., MOLNÁR, Z. & BOLONI, J. (2015). The history and natural regeneration of a secondary oak-beech woodland on a former wood-pasture in Hungary. Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae 84, 215–225.
- VEENENDAAL, E. M., TORELLO-RAVENTOS, M., MIRANDA, H. S., SATO, N. M., OLIVERAS, I., VAN LANGEVELDE, F., ASNER, G. P. & LLOYD, J. (2018). On the relationship between fire regime and vegetation structure in the tropics. *New Phytologist* 218, 153–166.
- VELDMAN, J. W. (2016). Clarifying the confusion: old-growth savannahs and tropical ecosystem degradation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 371, 20150306.
- VELDMAN, J. W., ALEMAN, J. C., ALVARADO, S. T., ANDERSON, T. M., ARCHIBALD, S., BOND, W. J., BOUTTON, T. W., BUCHMANN, N., BUISSON, E., CANADELL, J. G., DE SÁ DECHOUM, M., DIAZ-TORIBIO, M. H., DURIGAN, G., EWEL, J. J., FERNANDES, G. W., *ET AL.* (2019). Comment on "The global tree restoration potential". *Science* **366**, eaay7976.
- VELDMAN, J. W., BUISSON, E., DURIGAN, G., FERNANDES, G. W., LE STRADIC, S., MAHY, G., NEGREIROS, D., OVERBECK, G. E., VELDMAN, R. G., ZALOUMIS, N. P., PUTZ, F. E. & BOND, W. J. (2015). Toward an old-growth concept for grasslands, savannas, and woodlands. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 13, 154–162.
- VERA, F. W. M. (2000). Grazing Ecology and Forest History. CABI, Wallingford.
- WAGNER, V., BRAGINA, T. M., NOWAK, A., SMELANSKY, I. E. & VANSELOW, K. A. (2020). Grasslands and shrublands of Kazakhstan and Middle Asia. In *Encyclopedia* of World'd Biomes (Volume 3, eds M. I. GOLDSTEIN and D. A. DELLASALA), pp. 750– 758. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- WALLIS DE VRIES, M. F., MANIBAZAR, N. & DÜGERLHAM, S. (1996). The vegetation of the forest-steppe region of Hustain Nuruu, Mongolia. *Vegetatio* 122, 111–127.
- WALTER, H. & BRECKLE, S.-W. (1989). Ecological Systems of the Geobiosphere 3 Temperate and Polar Zonobiomes of Northern Eurasia. Springer, Berlin.
- WANG, H., PRENTICE, I. C. & NI, J. (2013). Data-based modelling and environmental sensitivity of vegetation in China. *Biogeosciences* 10, 5817–5830.
- WEIGL, P. D. & KNOWLES, T. W. (2014). Temperate mountain grasslands: a climate– herbivore hypothesis for origins and persistence. *Biological Reviews* 89, 466–476.
- WESCHE, K., AMBARLI, D., KAMP, J., TÖRÖK, P., TREIBER, J. & DENGLER, J. (2016). The Palaearctic steppe biome: a new synthesis. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 25, 2197–2231.
- WESCHE, K. & TREIBER, J. (2012). Abiotic and biotic determinants of steppe productivity and performance: a view from Central Asia. In: *Eurasian Steppes*. *Ecological Problems and Livelihoods in a Changing World* (eds M. J. A. WERGER and M. A. VAN STAALDUINEN), pp. 3–43. Dordrecht: Springer.
- WHITE, R. P., MURRAY, S. M. & ROHWEDER, M. (2000). Pilot Analysis of Global Ecosystems: Grassland Ecosystems. World Resources Institute, Washington.
- WILSON, S. D. & PELTZER, D. A. (2021). Per-gram competitive effects and contrasting soil resource effects in grasses and woody plants. *Journal of Ecology* **109**, 74–84.
- WIRTH, C. (2005). Fire regime and tree diversity in boreal forests: implications for the carbon cycle. In *Forest Diversity and Function* (eds M. SCHERER-LORENZEN, C. KORNER and E.-D. SCHULZE), pp. 309–344. Springer, Berlin.
- XU, C., LIU, H., ANENKHONOV, O. A., KOROLYUK, A. Y., SANDANOV, D. V., BALSANOVA, L. D., NAIDANOV, B. B. & WU, X. (2017). Long-term forest resilience to climate change indicated by mortality, regeneration, and growth in semiarid southern Siberia. *Global Change Biology* 23, 2370–2382.
- YANG, C., HUANG, Y., LI, E. & LI, Z. (2019). Rainfall interception of typical ecosystems in the Heihe River Basin: based on high temporal resolution soil moisture data. *Journal of Geographical Sciences* 29, 1527–1547.
- YIN, Y., LIU, H., LIU, G., HAO, Q. & WANG, H. (2013). Vegetation responses to mid-Holocene extreme drought events and subsequent long-term drought on the southeastern Inner Mongolian Plateau, China. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 178-179, 3–9.
- YU, K. L. & D'ODORICO, P. (2015). Hydraulic lift as a determinant of tree-grass coexistence on savannas. *New Phytologist* 207, 1038–1051.
- ZECH, W., SCHAD, P. & HINTERMAIER-ERHARD, G. (2014). Böden der Welt, Second Edition. Springer, Berlin.
- ZLOTIN, R. (2002). Biodiversity and productivity of ecosystems. In *The Physical Geography of Northern Eurosia* (ed. M. SHAHGEDANOVA), pp. 169–190. Oxford University Press, Oxford. ZOLOTAREVA, N. V. (2020). Dynamics of extrazonal steppes in the Southern Urals over
- a 20-year period amid climatic changes. *Russian Journal of Ecology* **51**, 440–451.

(Received 27 April 2022; revised 4 July 2022; accepted 5 July 2022; published online 9 August 2022)